RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/30/2017 3:28 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

944865 No. 95586-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 74367-8-I

DEBI O'BRIEN,

Petitioner,

v.

LEONARD CARDER AND JANE DOE CARDER and the marital community thereof, and ABM INDUSTRIES ("ABMI") and ABM PARKING SERVICES (d/b/a "Ampco" or "ABM Onsite Services West").

Respondents.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sandra L. Ferguson, WSBA No. 27472 600 First Avenue
Seattle, WA 98104
Tel. (206)785-1330
Fax (206)260-1334
sandra@slfergusonlaw.com
Attorney for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner Debi O'Brien is "plaintiff" in the trial court and "appellant" in the Court of Appeals.¹ Petitioners Sandra Ferguson and Margaret Boyle are "appellants" in the Court of Appeals—as to the trial court's order imposing CR 11 sanctions.

B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seeks review of the "Unpublished Opinion" of Division

I of the Court of Appeals in *O'Brien v. Carder, et al*, No. 74367-8-I.

Appendix 1 is a copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion (filed April 3, 2015). Appendix 2 is copies of trial court orders: (a) Order On

Defendants' Motions For Summary Judgment (entered 11/16/15);² (b) Order On Defendants' Motion For Sanctions (entered 9/14/15);³ and (c) 2nd Order On Defendants' Motion For Sanctions (entered 11/16/15).⁴ Appendix 3 is a copy of the Record of Proceedings from the Summary Judgment Hearing, 11/13/2015.

¹ When the petitioner Debi O'Brien is referred to by name, it will be by her surname ("O'Brien"). Likewise, the respondent, Leonard Carder, will be referred to by his surname ("Carder"). No disrespect is intended by this device, the goal is clarity and brevity.

² CP 2152-2156.

³ CP 655-657.

⁴ CP 2157-2158.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Are the lower courts required to follow the "reasonable woman" standard under Title VII⁵ when deciding whether hostile work environment claims are actionable under the WLAD?⁶
- 2. Should this Court enforce the "substantial factor" rule enunciated in *Scrivener*⁷ because the trial court erred by requiring O'Brien to *disprove* the employer's assertion that she was terminated as part of a lawful reduction-in-force?⁸
- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying O'Brien's CR 56(f) motion, thus, denying O'Brien the opportunity to amend the complaint and to depose the defendants?
- 4. Should this Court reverse the order imposing CR 11 sanctions because under the facts of this case, the imposition of CR 11 sanctions is contrary to Washington authority and undermines public policy?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Relevant Procedural Facts - Federal Court

Lawsuit Filed in State Court—October 2013. O'Brien filed against

"ABM" in King County Superior Court— alleging state law claims.

⁵ Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (CFR 2000e, et seq.)

⁶ RCW § 49.60, et seq. (the Washington Law Against Discrimination or "WLAD").

⁷ Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 334 P.3d 541 (2014).

⁸ See, Appendix 2 (CP 2154).

<u>Defendants' First Removal to Federal Court</u>. ABM removed to federal court. O'Brien amended the complaint to add her former boss, Leonard Carder. Defendants filed a motion to sever Carder—which was granted.

<u>District Court Rejects Defendants' Claim that Carder is Sham</u>

Defendant—Preserves O'Brien's Right to Sue Carder Separately.

The order dismissing Carder is significant and therefore, is quoted in relevant part, below:

"[A]s the case against Mr. Carder will be dismissed without prejudice, Plaintiff will not be prevented from filing a suit against Mr. Carder in state court, meaning that any prejudice accruing to her is minimal. The Court gives little weight to Plaintiff's sole argument for why the Court should not drop Mr. Carder."

"All claims against Mr. Carder are DISMISSED without prejudice to Plaintiff filing claims against him in state court..."

[CP 516-520.] [Emphasis added.]

Thus, there is no question of O'Brien's right to sue Carder in state court as an "employer". However, O'Brien must sue Carder separately from the ABM defendants—or forfeit the right to sue Carder. Eventually, O'Brien would sue Carder, but only after

⁹ See, *Brown v. Scott Paper Worldwide Co.*, 143 Wn.2d 349 (2001) (individual managers may be sued as "employers" under the WLAD), and Judge Coughenour's Order dismissing Carder (CP 516-520).

discovery in the federal case provided strong support for O'Brien's allegation that Carder orchestrated the hostile work environment.

The District Court Dismisses Public Policy Claim Under Cudney.

ABM successfully moved for dismissal of this claim on the pleadings under FRCP 12(c). The Court granted ABM's motion based on the "adequacy" test, set forth in *Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc.*, 172 Wash.2d 524, 537, 259 P.3d 244, 250 (2011).

District Court Grants Leave for Voluntary Dismissal— FRCP 41

O'Brien's case was tirelessly litigated in District Court—right up until Judge Coughenour granted O'Brien's Motion for Voluntary Dismissal under FRCP 41. The discovery process was very contentious. During the last two weeks of the discovery period, O'Brien finally managed to depose three ABM managers (i.e., Madeline Kwan, Hugh Koskinen, and Matt Purvis). Other managers' depositions were noted by mutual agreement, and would have been taken just before the discovery cut-off date. However, Defense counsel withdrew all cooperation at the 11th hour, then sought and obtained a protective order, preventing these depositions. O'Brien

¹⁰ CP 95-108 (USDC docket).

was out of time, the clock had run out, there was no choice but to dismiss the case under Rule 41. The Court granted O'Brien's motion to dismiss the case without prejudice. Defendants asked the Court to impose conditions, arguing that the voluntary dismissal was in bad faith or for an improper motive. Judge Coughenour disagreed, stating:

"Plaintiff completed some depositions after the second continuance was granted, but also cancelled five scheduled depositions, apparently after concluding that there was insufficient time to complete necessary discovery."

CP 113-116 (emphasis added). The ABMs hastily filed summary judgment motions and asked the Court to consider them, rather than allow dismissal. Judge Coughenour declined to do this, stating:

"Most notably, Defendants ask the Court to rule on the pending motions for summary judgment because it would 'be unjust for Plaintiff to escape ruling on the merits of these motions. *This presumes a favorable result for Defendants.* The Court declines to impose the requested conditions."

Id. [Emphasis added]

2. Relevant Procedural Facts—State Court

Lawsuit Filed Against Carder, et al—March 19, 2015.

On March 19, 2015, O'Brien exercised her right to sue Carder in state court. In addition to Carder, she sued four other managers who engaged in the alleged harassment (Koskinen, Lawson, Purvis, Ketza).

Second Amended Complaint Adds ABMs as Defendants.

The federal action was dismissed without prejudice on April 23, 2015. Therefore, O'Brien sought and was granted leave to amend the complaint to add the ABMs as defendant. "Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint" was filed, and contained 77 paragraphs of factallegations. CP 1265-1286 (Second Am. Comp.). This level of detail was possible, in large part, because of the testimony obtained by O'Brien in the final weeks of the federal case. including depositions of O'Brien's former managers, Madeline Kwan (CP1518-1580), Matt Purvis (CP 1449-1516), Hugh Koskinen (CP 1582-1611), and of Debi O'Brien, herself (CP 183-227), O'Brien's daughter, Bernadette Stickle (CP 1759-1841), and comparators, Melody Dillon (CP 1613-1750), and Jason Reidt (1752-55).

"Notice of Rule 11 Violations"—March 30, 2015.11

Defense counsel asserted that because two of the individual defendants —Koskinen and Lawson— left their employment at ABM Parking in 2010, O'Brien's hostile environment claim (as to these two defendants) was barred by the 3-year statute of limitations applicable

¹¹ CP 594-595.

to WLAD claims. The letter warned that if these two managers were not dismissed, a motion for CR 11 sanctions would follow.

Response to Notice of Rule 11 Violations. 12

O'Brien's attorneys responded that Antonius v. King County provided the legal basis for suing these two managers under the WLAD (assuming arguendo, that the statute of limitations had in fact run). In Antonius, the Court held that the employer can be liable for acts committed outside of the limitations period if there are acts that occurred within the limitations period which are part of a hostile work environment. In other words, the acts contributing to a hostile work environment are to be viewed in the aggregate, as one act, for purposes of determining whether the statute of limitations has expired.¹³ Before Koskinen and Lawson left ABM in 2010, they allegedly engaged in acts that were part of a concerted effort orchestrated by Carder—to create a hostile work environment in retaliation for O'Brien's protected activity. These acts by O'Brien's managers (including Koskinen and Lawson) began in 2009 and continued until O'Brien was terminated in February 2013. Thus,

¹² CP 597-598.

¹³ Antonius v. King Co. 153 Wn.2d 256, 103 P.3d 729 (2004).

under *Antonius*—Koskinen and Lawson could be liable for the acts they personally committed, since their acts were part of, and in furtherance of the hostile work environment. The defendants argued that under *Antonius*, only the ABM companies can be liable for acts outside the limitations period; not individual managers. It is a question of first impression.

Stipulated Dismissal of Individual Managers (except Carder).

After receiving the Notice of CR 11 Violation, O'Brien's attorneys made a calculation of risks/benefits. They decided to agree to dismiss the individual managers without prejudice (except for the alleged ringleader, Carder). This was accomplished pursuant to a stipulated order.¹⁴

Defendant's Second Removal to Federal Court—June 11, 2015.

As soon as the stipulated order was entered, the defendants improperly removed the case to federal court. Carder and O'Brien were both Washington residents. Thus, there existed no basis for federal jurisdiction.

Judge Zilly's Order of Remand—August 25, 2015.

¹⁴ CP 446-48 (Stipulated Order, entered June 8, 2015).

O'Brien promptly moved for remand—which was granted.

However, it took 2.5 months for the case to be remanded. No discovery was possible during this interval. Like Judge Coughenour before him, Judge Zilly *rejected* the defendants' claim that Carder was a *sham* defendant. Judge Zilly made this finding explicit—stating:

"The Court... finds that *Mr. Carder is not a sham defendant* as plaintiff has stated a theoretically plausible claim against him. See *Brown v. Scott Paper Worldwide Co.*, 143 Was.2d 349, 353 (2001) (stating that supervisors may be held liable under Washington law for their discriminatory acts.)." ¹⁵

Trial Court Imposes CR 11 sanctions b/c four managers

were "unnecessary" to the lawsuit—September 14, 2015. 16 After

remand, the defendants filed a motion for CR 11 sanctions which

then had to be litigated, preventing discovery progress. The trial

court imposed CR 11 sanctions because the four managers were

"unnecessary" to the lawsuit—as evidenced by O'Brien's recent

decision to dismiss them.

The Order states:

"[T]he bringing of claims against these four individual defendants (Koskinen, Lawson, Purvis and Ketza and their marital communities) was in clear violation of CR 11.

¹⁵ CP 459-460 (Minute Order, entered 8/25/15).

¹⁶ See App. 2 (CP 655-657.)

Once leave was granted in May to add plaintiff's former [corporate] employer[s] to this lawsuit...these four individuals were promptly dropped from the suit. That their involvement was so quickly proclaimed to be unnecessary is a compelling demonstration that it had always been unnecessary." "[There was] no defensible reason for treating these individuals in the manner they were."

O'Brien's Motion for Reconsideration—Denied.

O'Brien moved for reconsideration of the sanctions order as legal error since it is not sanctionable conduct to sue a defendant who is *unnecessary* to the case, provided there is a factual and legal basis warranting the suit. O'Brien's motion was denied. CP 2159-2160.

2nd Order Imposing Sanctions—November 16, 2015.17

This order imposed sanctions of \$6,500. The court attempts to clarify (or recast) its rationale, stating:

- a. Many of the claims against these individuals were not well-grounded in fact or warranted by existing law and a reasonable inquiry would have made this clear; there has not been offered any way in which these individuals could have been found liable under the plaintiff's contract with her employer nor has there been any explanation of why the statute of limitations would not bar a 2015 lawsuit based on action taken no later than 2010.
- b. By its previous reference to the 'procedural machinations in which these four individuals were ill-used as unwilling

¹⁷ App. 2 (CP 2157-2158).

and unfortunate pawns,' the Court meant to indicate that their inclusion in the lawsuit was in service of a concerted effort at *forum shopping* and, therefore, was "for an *improper purpose*."

"These are the specific findings upon which the conclusion of a CR 11 violation is based." [Id., Emphasis added.]

Order Denying CR 56(f) Motion—November 16, 2015.

After months of procedural gamesmanship, the defendants filed motions for summary judgment. Pursuant to CR 56(f), O'Brien sought a continuance, in part, to amend the complaint based on a recent change in the law, and to allege the public policy tort claim earlier dismissed by the District Court under *Cudney*. Also, in order to depose Leonard Carder, to take 30(b)(6) depositions of the ABMs, to depose Rod Howery (the manager ABM claims was the decision-maker in O'Brien's termination), and to depose Vivian Smith (O'Brien's HR manager who was an ABM Industries employee, and who gave final written approval for O'Brien's termination from ABM Parking). The trial

¹⁸ After O'Brien filed the state court action, the adequacy test of *Cudney* was abrogated by: *Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015), 358 P.3d 1139 (2015), *Becker v. Community Health Systems, Inc.*, 184 Wn.2d 252 (2015), *Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross*, 184 Wn.2d 300, 358 P.3d 1153 (2015).

court denied O'Brien's CR 56(f) motion. Thus, O'Brien was not allowed to amend the complaint, nor to take any discovery.¹⁹

Summary Judgment Granted—November 16, 2015. The summary judgment hearing took place on November 13, 2015. However, the court did not allow oral argument on the question of CR 11 sanctions. Three days later, the motions for summary judgment were granted.²⁰

2nd Sanctions Order Entered—November 16, 2015. 21

3. Facts of O'Brien's Hostile Environment Claim.

Melody Dillon's Sexual Harassment Complaint.

In March 2009, O'Brien engaged in protected "opposition" activity under the WLAD when she assisted HR with handling a sexual harassment complaint lodged by a female employee— Melody Dillon. Dillon was deposed during the federal case. To summarize, she testified that she was initially hired by ABM Parking to work in a garage, she was quickly promoted to the position of bookkeeper, after her promotion, she complained

¹⁹ CP 2153.

²⁰ See Apps. 1, and 3 (SJ Order and RP, 11/13/2015).

²¹ App. 2, CP 2157-2158 (Order on Def's Mot. for Sanctions, 11/16/15- based on Court's finding of "improper purpose" of "forum-shopping).

about sexual harassment by two male co-workers (valets), then was harassed by the male co-workers *and* by her supervisors in retaliation for making the complaint. Due to the harassment, she resigned. CP 1613-1750.

Retaliation Against Dillon Similar to O'Brien.

Koskinen (Carder's right-hand man) harassed Dillon. The other harasser was Dillon's direct supervisor—Livermore—who reported to Hugh Koskinen. Also, a "fancy guy" (probably Carder) intimidated Dillon after she complained. CP 1616:14-25. After Dillon lodged the sexual harassment complaint about her two coworkers (both valets) Dillon was required to spend more time (not less) with the valets. CP 1623-1624. In a write-up which was placed in Dillon's personnel file, it was stated that Dillon needed to spend more time working with the valets to gain their respect. CP 1654. Before she reported the sexual harassment, Dillon received a very positive performance evaluation. CP 1621. After she reported the harassment, Dillon's supervisor gave her a series of unwarranted write-ups and a "final warning". CP 1627-1629.

<u>Dillon Experiences Fear and Intimidation When Performing</u>

Daily Garage Inspections. After reporting sexual harassment,

Dillon was given a new assignment, which was to conduct daily walking inspections of the Expedia Garage (where she was a bookkeeper). Dillon testified that she felt frightened and intimidated when she performed these inspections, that she was afraid of being attacked ("jumped"). Dillon testified that the garage was dark, she was alone, and she was aware that her male co-workers were angry at her for the sexual harassment complaint. Dillon was repeatedly criticized by her manager—Livermore—for not being fast enough at performing these "walk throughs". CP 1649-1690. Dillon resigned because of the harassment she experienced after she complained about sexual harassment complaint. She testified, "I found another job because I needed to leave". CP 1639:17.

O'Brien is Harassed After Handling Dillon's Complaint.

O'Brien was an HR Coordinator/Operations Manager. She wrote up Dillon's male harassers in her HR role. Then, she began to have problems with her managers on the "Operations" side. Koskinen instructed O'Brien to write up Melody Dillon, instead, to document blame of Dillon for causing the sexual harassment. CP 779-781. Koskinen angrily criticized O'Brien for forwarding an e-mail to Dillon's

manager—Livermore—advising to stop interrogating Dillon about confidential medical issues when she requested sick leave. CP 1609-1611. Koskinen instigated a confrontation with O'Brien, demanding to know about O'Brien's relationship with Dillon's mother, Koskinen velled at O'Brien, and wrote her up for insubordination. CP 1602. O'Brien was subjected to increased scrutiny, falsely accused of malingering. CP 1604-1606. Koskinen called her in to work over Labor Day weekend after approving the time off, forcing her to cut short a fishing vacation; O'Brien was denied reasonable accommodation and thus, was required to work 12-hour days standing in the hot sun at the Spokane Fair in 2012 (CP 207-211); Koskinen recorded O'Brien's private telephone conversation with her sister, then played it for the amusement of other employees, telling them it was a conversation between O'Brien and her psychiatrist. O'Brien reported this incident to Vivian Smith (Vice President of HR), but Smith took no corrective action and the retaliation escalated. CP 195: 1-5. Meanwhile, O'Brien learned from Koskinen that Melody Dillon was about to be fired. CP 781:21.

O'Brien Experiences Fear and Intimidation When She Performs

Garage Inspections under Carder's CSI Program.

After O'Brien assisted HR with Dillon's sexual harassment complaint, her boss on the "Operations" side, Leonard Carder, invented a newprogram which came to be called "Customer Service Initiative" ("CSI"). He put O'Brien in charge of the CSI program, which required her to conduct regular, frequent walking inspections of all parking garages managed and operated by ABM Parking in the Seattle-Bellevue area. O'Brien was to walk through each floor of each garage, take photographs and note the conditions in each garage, then submit a "CSI Report" for each garage. CP 212-222.

Carder, Koskinen, and Lawson regularly reviewed the CSI Reports O'Brien submitted. CP 216-222. As the CSI Reports describe, the conditions O'Brien encountered in the garages frightened and intimidated her. She testified: "I didn't feel safe." CP 218:5. And she testified about the reasons that she did not feel safe. For example, one time, she was pushed into bushes at the Expedia garage. CP 218:10-12. While inspecting other garages, she came upon the denizens of the garages while they were having sex, doing drugs, or transacting drug deals. CP 221: 1-6. Then, O'Brien was told that she would have to perform at least 10 inspections per week, an unrealistic goal. CP 214:18-25, 215:1-10.

When she could not achieve this goal, she was repeatedly written up and criticized by Koskinen, Lawson, and then, Purvis. CP 1603, 1608; CP 1468-1474,

Tim O'Brien's Letter to Leonard Carder Warns of Danger

Plaintiff's husband wrote a letter to Leonard Carder notifying him about the dangerous conditions, and asking Carder to take steps to ensure O'Brien's future safety. CP 1142-1143. Leonard Carder and Madeline Kwan received Tim's letter. CP 1920. No one responded. CP 215:22-25, CP 216: 1-11. Indeed, after Tim sent the letter, the expectation was ratcheted up to 10 garage inspections per week. CP 213.

Koskinen's Testimony Implicates Carder As Harasser-in-Chief

Hugh Koskinen was deposed in the federal case. He testified that the "mandate came down from Leonard" that O'Brien needed to perform 10 inspections per week, and that "[t]he whole idea of the CSI program was Leonard's idea." CP 1591:18-25. Koskinen testified that he invariably reported sexual harassment complaints to Carder. CP 1588. Koskinen also testified to Carder's animus toward O'Brien, when he stated that he had to "defend [O'Brien] routinely" to Carder. CP 1588-1592.

Managers Have Notice of O'Brien's Fear. The CSI reports placed all of O'Brien's managers on notice of the hazardous conditions in the garages and of O'Brien's fears. CP 216-222. Koskinen and Purvis, both testified that they were aware of the dangerous conditions

O'Brien encountered on a regular basis in some of the garages. Purvis testified (inter alia) that he was in frequent communication with the Seattle Police Department about one or two of the downtown garages O'Brien regularly inspected. CP 1475-80. Notably, Purvis also testified that the CSI program was abolished after O'Brien was terminated from ABM Parking. CP 1474:20-25.

Pacific Place Garage Assignment Sets O'Brien up to Fail. After
O'Brien assisted with handling Dillon's sexual harassment complaint,
she was assigned to resolve accounts receivables problems that were
ongoing at the Pacific Place Garage—owned by the City of Seattle and
managed by ABM Parking. CP 329. Matt Purvis testified that it was
Leonard Carder's decision to give the Pacific Place Garage assignment
to O'Brien. CP 1459-63. After she went there, O'Brien reported her
findings of mismanagement, and possible fraud or theft, to Matt
Purvis directly, and Leonard Carder, indirectly. CP 1486-1493. She
did not receive the support from her bosses that she needed to be

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