FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/28/2017 10:25 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

## **SUPREME COURT NO. 94486-5**

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 74367-8-I

DEBI O'BRIEN,

Petitioner,

ν.

LEONARD CARDER AND JANE DOE CARDER, and the marital community thereof, and the corporations ABM INDUSTRIES ("ABMI") and ABM PARKING SERVICES (d/b/a "Ampco" and "ABM Onsite Services West"),

Respondents.

## ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shannon E. Phillips SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, Washington 98104-2682 (206) 676-7000 Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

## A. Three of Petitioners' Issues Are Untimely.

Three of Petitioners' proposed issues for review should be rejected because Petitioners failed to timely present them for review. As detailed below, they tried to expand the list of issues presented after the petition deadline by submitting them in the guise of a "corrected" brief. As no

extraordinary circumstances prevented Petitioners from timely presenting these issues for review, they should be rejected.

A petition for review must be filed within 30 days after the Court of Appeals decision is filed. RAP 13.4(a). The Rules of Appellate Procedure allow for an untimely petition for discretionary review "to serve the ends of justice" if there are "extraordinary circumstances" present. RAP 1.2(c); RAP 18.8(b). On the other hand, this Court rejects issues that are not properly raised in a petition. *See State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 625, 141 P.3d 13, 19 (2006) (declining to consider an issue because the party did not properly "raise" the issue).

On May 3, 2017, the last day for filing a petition for review,

Petitioners filed an overlength Petition for Review (the "May 3 Petition").

While Petitioners identified six trial court and court of appeals decisions for which they were seeking review, the May 3 Petition presented only two issues for review:

- 1. Should Washington Adopt the "Reasonable Woman" Test Enunciated by the Federal Courts Under Title VII?
- 2. Is there a substantial public interest at stake which warrants acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)?

May 3 Pet. at 4-6. The argument section of the May 3 Petition clarified that the two issues were, in fact, one: Petitioner argued only that the question of whether the "reasonable woman" test should have been applied to her claims presented an issue of substantial public interest. May 3 Pet. at 39-46.

On May 8, 2017, five days after the deadline for filing a petition for review, without seeking leave, Petitioners filed another overlength Petition for Review (the "May 8 Petition"). Petitioners included three new issues in the untimely May 8 Petition, as well as entirely new arguments with respect to those issues. May 8 Pet. at 4, 36-41. Respondents objected to the inclusion of untimely new issues and argument in the May 8 Petition. Resp'ts' Opp. to Appellants' Mot. for Overlength Pet. at 4-6 (May 16, 2017). In a May 18, 2017 letter, the Supreme Court's Deputy Clerk rejected both the May 3 and May 8 Petitions because they were overlength and granted Petitioners leave to file a shorter petition.

On May 30, 2017, Petitioners filed an "Amended Petition for Review" ("May 30 Amended Petition"). As with the untimely May 8 Petition, the May 30 Amended Petition also asserts three new issues (issues 2 through 4), as well as argument on these issues, that were not included in the original, timely May 3 Petition. Because Petitioner has not provided any justification, much less "extraordinary circumstances," for raising untimely issues, Respondents respectfully asks the Court to reject issues 2 through 4.

# B. Petitioner Did Not Raise Her "Reasonable Woman" Argument (Issue One) In the Lower Courts.

It is well established that, except for a few exceptions that do not apply here<sup>2</sup>, an issue that was not raised in the lower courts cannot be grounds for a petition for review. *See State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) ("An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court."); *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) ("This court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review.").

O'Brien did not raise her "reasonable woman" argument before either the superior court or the Court of Appeals; rather, this argument appeared for the first time in O'Brien's May 8 Petition. *See* Opening Brief of Appellants, *supra* p.8, at 46-48. Because the "reasonable woman" argument is a new issue that neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals had a chance to consider, the issue is not preserved for appeal and this Court should decline to accept review of this issue.

Should the Court choose nevertheless to consider O'Brien's "reasonable woman standard" argument, her assertion that it might have saved her hostile work environment claim under Washington's Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49.60.180 ("WLAD"), is based on a misunderstanding of the basis for the trial court's conclusion that the claim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The limited exceptions are where issues pertain to jurisdiction, right to maintain an action, illegality, invasion of fundamental constitutional rights, and lack of claim of relief. *State v. Laviollette*, 118 Wn.2d 670, 680, 826 P.2d 684, 689 (1992) (overruled on other grounds as recognized by *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 778, 888 P.2d 155, 159 (1995).

lacked sufficient evidence to survive summary judgment. The event to which she argues the standard should apply (her inspection of garages), Amended Pet. at 25, was not rejected as harassing because a "reasonable man" or "reasonable person" would not find the assignment sufficiently severe or pervasive so as to alter the terms and conditions of her employment. Rather, the evidence was rejected as insufficient because the assignment was "reasonably within the scope of her duties as an operations manager." Unpub. Op. at 20. In other words, the lower courts found that being asked to inspect parking garages when you work as an operations manager for a parking management company is not harassment. Because the "reasonable woman standard" is irrelevant to the defects in her harassment claim, the alleged failure of the lower courts to consider it raises no substantial public interest meriting review by this Court.

# C. O'Brien's Challenge Regarding the Substantial Factor Rule (Issue Two) Does Not Merit Review.

O'Brien's second issue for review stems from her disagreement with the superior court's finding that she did not present sufficient evidence to support her WLAD claims. Specifically, O'Brien asserts that the superior court did not correctly follow the standard for establishing pretext as set forth in *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 446–47, 334 P.3d 541, 546 (2014). O'Brien is mistaken.

In *Scrivener*, this Court clarified the pretext element of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework, which Washington courts apply to employment discrimination claims arising under the WLAD.

Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 445 (citing McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-04, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed. 2d 668 (1973)). Under the framework, a plaintiff bears the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination, which creates a presumption of discrimination. Id. at 446. The burden of production then shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. Id. (citing Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 363-64, 753 P.2d 517(1988)). "If the Defendant meets this burden, the third prong of the McDonnell Douglas test requires the Plaintiff to produce sufficient evidence that Defendant's alleged nondiscriminatory reason for [the employment action] was a pretext." Id. (quoting Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 667, 880 P.2d 988 (1994)).

This Court in *Scrivener* advised that an employee may satisfy the pretext prong by offering sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact either (1) that the defendant's stated reason is pretextual; or (2) that although the employer's stated reason is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer. *Id.* at 446-47. Accordingly, "[a]n employee does not *need* to disprove each of the employer's articulated reasons to satisfy the pretext burden of production." *Id.* at 447 (emphasis in original). Rather, "the plaintiff may also satisfy the pretext prong by presenting sufficient evidence that discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer." *Id.* at 448.

The decisions of the superior court and the Court of Appeals were entirely consistent with this standard. As the Court of Appeals explained,

with regards to her claim for age discrimination, O'Brien failed to show either that ABM's stated legitimate reason (the workforce reduction) was a pretext or to provide any other evidence that age was a reason for her termination. Unpub. Op. at 22-23 (quoting Domingo v. Boeing Employees' Credit Union, 124 Wn.App.71, 85, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004)) ("Indeed, O'Brien offers no evidence to support her claim other than her own speculation that age was the reason for her termination. Such statements are 'not enough to survive summary judgment.""). Similarly, with respect to her retaliation claim, O'Brien failed to show that either decision maker was even aware that she had engaged in the alleged protected activity. Unpub. Op. at 21. Thus, the Court of Appeals made it clear that O'Brien's claims were properly dismissed because she had failed to establish the pretext prong by either raising questions about ABM's stated legitimate reason or by offering evidence that discriminatory intent was a "substantial factor." Therefore, the decision is entirely consistent with the standards set forth in *Scrivener*.

D. Petitioners Do Not Appear to Be Pursuing Their Challenge to the Trial Court's Denial of Their CR 56(f) Continuance Request (Issue Three), Which Likewise Does Not Meet the Court's Criteria for Accepting Review.

Petitioners offer no argument as to why this Court should accept review of their third stated issue regarding the superior court's denial of O'Brien's request for a continuance under CR 56(f). Thus, it appears they are not pursuing this issue.

There are no grounds for accepting review. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, "[w]hether a motion for continuance should be granted or denied is a matter of discretion with the trial court, reviewable on appeal for manifest abuse of discretion." Unpub. Op. at 16 (quoting Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wn.2d 653, 670, 131 P.3d 305 (2006)). The Court of Appeals found that superior court's decision to deny the continuance was tenable given that O'Brien's litigation had been pending for over two years through both the dismissed federal action and the subsequent state action, and because O'Brien had been granted two continuances in the federal action. *Id.* This routine application of standards does not raise any issues under RAP 13.4(b).

# E. Petitioners' Challenge to the Imposition of Sanctions (Issue Four) Is Not Appropriate For Review.

Petitioners offer no persuasive reason as to why this Court should accept review of the superior court's CR 11 decision. The lower courts correctly applied settled standards governing CR 11 to undisputed facts, and no substantial public interest is raised by the imposition of sanctions for asserting claims that are legally and factually baseless, for the purpose of forum shopping.

A superior court's decision to award sanctions is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 338, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). "Whether an attorney has made a reasonable inquiry is to be judged by an objective standard. Subjective belief or good faith alone no longer shields an attorney from

sanctions under the rules." *Id.* at 343. Although Petitioners disagree with the superior court's decision, they offer no grounds for finding that the superior court's ruling was "manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." *Id.* at 338.

Petitioners disagree that their conduct could be construed as improper forum shopping because, they argue, even without the other individual defendants, Carder was a resident of Washington, thus defeating diversity. Amended Pet. at 26. As a result, they argue that the sanctions decision chills an employee's right to sue her manager under the WLAD. Id. Petitioners ignore the facts the lower courts found compelling: (1) Petitioners had previously tried to use Carder to defeat diversity jurisdiction in the federal action, but the federal district court prevented them from doing so; and (2) in order to obtain a voluntary dismissal without prejudice, the Petitioners represented to the federal court that they had discovered grounds for a state court action against other supervisors and managers. Unpub. Op. at 13-14. Only after they accomplished the federal dismissal and asserted essentially the same claims against ABM and ABMI in state court did they immediately drop the individual defendants other than Carder. Id. at 14. The trial court noted that in response to the sanctions motion, "there has not been offered any way in which these individuals can have been found liable . . . . " Id. The trial court's imposition of sanctions is consistent with the purpose behind CR 11, as articulated by this Court: "to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the judicial system.' "Biggs v. Vail, 124 Wn.2d 193,

197, 876 P.2d 448, 451 (1994) (quoting *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d at 219, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992)).

Petitioners also argue that sanctions should not have been imposed because they ultimately voluntarily dismissed the challenged claims, which they contend is contrary to this Court's holding that an offending party should be given notice and the opportunity to mitigate a sanction by withdrawing baseless claims. Amended Pet. at 26 & n.30 (citing *Biggs v*, 124 Wn.2d at 198). They fail to acknowledge that despite being warned through a Rule 11 letter, they refused to drop their claims until *after* the individual defendants were forced expend time and money preparing a motion to dismiss. CP 483-486, 593-621. Moreover, they only dismissed the baseless claims *after* they had successfully brought ABM and ABMI into the state lawsuit. *Id.* They received notice required by this Court, but failed to promptly take advantage of the opportunity to avoid sanctions. The extent there is any public policy impact from the unpublished opinion, it may appropriately dissuade other attorneys from similarly using individuals as pawns in their improper litigation strategy.

Finally, Petitioners argue that the imposition of sanctions would have a chilling effect on parties and their attorneys who argue in good faith for the extension of existing law. Amended Pet. at 26-27. Again, Petitioners offered no objectively reasonable legal or factual basis for their claims in response to the motion for sanctions. Unpub. Op. at 14. Up to the point at which the superior court issued its sanctions order, O'Brien never actually made its argument that it was seeking to extend the law or

took any other steps to ask the court to rule on its legal theory. *Id.* at 15. Under these facts, the superior court's decision to award sanctions was not manifestly unreasonable, and there are no issues of substantial public interest meriting review.

## V. CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully request that the Supreme Court deny review of the Unpublished Decision because there are no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b).